



CONSUMER GAPS ON AWARENESS OF THE USE OF BATTERY CAGE POULTRY FARMING IN USE OF BATTERY FARMING





CONSUMER GAPS ON AWARENESS OF THE USE OF BATTERY CAGE POULTRY FARMING IN UGANDA AND ISSUES AROUND POULTRY PRODUCTION

ABSTRACT: In developed countries, consumers are often conscious of the poultry farming systems that are welfare friendly, which has greatly driven a production increase of welfare friendly eggs and chicken meat products. However, in Sub-Saharan Africa and specifically Uganda, a number of consumers have limited knowledge about production systems in the poultry industry. This study aimed at assessing the consumer gaps on awareness of the use of battery cage poultry farming in Uganda and issues around poultry production. A questionnaire-based study (n=120) was conducted in Kampala, Wakiso, Mityana and Kyotera districts in Uganda. Results showed that most of the consumers were non affluent females aged between 41 to 60. They usually bought poultry products from local or nearby shops and often spent between 20,000 Uganda shillings to 100,000 Uganda shillings on poultry products per month. Results also showed that consumers had knowledge about deep litter, free range and mostly battery cage system although free range products were the most preferred because of the good welfare conditions to the chicken in free range system. Consumers were also aware of the welfare requirements for poultry produced in different productions systems, especially battery cage system and hence they assured to pay a higher price for poultry products raised in better welfare and quality production systems. The study concluded that much as the consumers had knowledge about the use of poultry production systems, especially battery cage, more policy frameworks and regulations should strictly be implemented across the country so that all consumers can acquire more knowledge about the systems and their welfare requirements, which greatly influences their purchase and consumption behaviors.

Keywords: Consumer awareness, gaps, poultry production, deep litter, free range and battery cage poultry farming systems.





ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

It is a genuine pleasure to express a deep sense of gratitude to the Centre for Effective Altruism for their financial support in ensuring the successful execution of this study.

We appreciate Dr Paul Ssuna for his immense contribution towards the development of this report.

Special thanks to the Project Implementation Team Josiah Ojwang, Dr Dennis Bahati, Sebastian Mwanza.





Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
INTRODUCTION:
MATERIALS AND METHODS:
RESULTS:
Table 1: Social demographic characteristics of respondents (N=120)
Table 2: Where poultry products are bought
Table 3: Average expenditure of poultry products per month 6
Table 4: Poultry production system known
Table 5: Preference for products from any of the production systems 7
Table 6: Awareness of welfare requirements for poultry produced in the production systems mentioned 8
Table 7: Indicating the production systems on the products sold in the market 8
Table 8: If the respondent would pay a higher price for poultry products raised in better welfare and quality production systems 8
DISCUSSION:
CONCLUSIONS:
REFERENCES:





INTRODUCTION:

The growing consumer demand for chicken products, especially eggs and poultry meat has primarily driven the poultry sector to expand and globalize for more than 20 years in countries of different income levels (El Jeni et al., 2021). There are different chicken production systems used worldwide including intensive, free-range and semi-intensive systems. To a great extent, chicken production at a commercial level largely depends on intensive systems that include deep litter and battery cage systems (Kraus, 2014). Consumers are increasingly aware of the conditions in growing chicken that are destined for consumption (De Carvalho et al., 2020). Their buying decisions for chicken products such as eggs and meat are impacted by several aspects, depending on the information available (Escobedo del Bosque et al., 2021). Price is certainly among the most important attributes when making buying decisions for eggs or meat and animal welfare attributes are also important (Minbashrazgah, Maleki & Torabi, 2017). There is increased willingness-to-pay for eggs and broiler chicken with higher levels of welfare concerns and to pay more attention to welfare labels when buying chicken products (Clark et al., 2017).

Since most consumers' knowledge about production systems in the poultry industry is limited (Erian and Phillips, 2017), the aim of this study was to to assess the consumer gaps on awareness of the use of battery cage poultry farming in Uganda and issues around poultry production. The study results contribute to the body of knowledge to both consumers, farmers and academia about the preferences of products of different poultry production systems. It indicates whether, and to what extent, consumers are willing to change consumption and purchase habits for the sake of production systems that are in line with their values.

MATERIALS AND METHODS:

To achieve the aim of the study, a quantitative research method and case study research design were used. The case study design was used to support an empirical investigation (Gibson & Fedorenko, 2013) in 4 districts in Uganda which include Kampala, Wakiso, Mityana and Kyotera districts, targeting consumers of poultry products specifically eggs and chicken meat. The target population of the study was derived from the total population of 4,349,771 people from the 4 districts, that is; 1,507,080 people in Kampala district, 328,964 people in Mityana, 516,309 people in Kyotera and 1,997,418 people in Wakiso. The study used a simple random sampling technique to determine the sample size which comprised of consumers of poultry products that particularly live in urban areas. However, the study considered a population of 30 consumers from an urban area of each district, which made a total of 120 respondents. The simple random sampling technique had high generalizability of findings (Polit & Beck, 2010); hence it was suitable for a large study population of consumers.

Personalized interviews were conducted using comprehensive questionnaires targeting consumers of poultry products within the 4 districts including Kampala, Wakiso, Mityana and Kyotera district, which was cut off Rakai district in 2017 (Nakatudde, 2015). The questionnaires were physically administered. The questionnaire was composed of a written set of open and closed-ended questions that were given to the consumers of poultry products in order to collect





facts or opinions about the gaps on their awareness of the use of battery cage poultry farming and issues around poultry production. The researcher was able to collect large amounts of primary data in a short time with integrity, which was coded and analyzed using a user-friendly software, the Statistical Package for Social Scientists (SPSS).

RESULTS:

The researcher issued out 120 (100%) questionnaires to consumers of poultry products within the 4 districts (Kampala, Wakiso, Mityana and Kyotera) in Uganda and were all successfully filled by the respondents, which gave the response rate of 100%. The background characteristics of the respondents included consumer type, sex and age.

Consumer Details: About 67.5% of the respondents (81/120) were non affluent while 32.5% of them (39/120) were affluent. The majority, 52.5% of the respondents (63/120) were females while 47.5% of the respondents (57/120) were males. No respondent was below 12 years of age, 11.7% of the respondents (14/120) were aged between 13 to 25, 42.5% of the respondents (51/120) were aged between 26 to 40 while 45.8% of the respondents (55/120) were aged between 41 to 60.

Characteristic	Category		Frequ	uency		Total freq	Percent	Total percent
		Kampala district	Wakiso district	Mityana district	Kyotera district	4		(%)
	Affluent	9	14	10	6	39	32.5	
Туре	Non affluent	21	16	20	24	81	67.5	100.0
	Male	12	18	13	14	57	47.5	
Sex	Female	18	12	17	16	63	52.5	100.0
	12 and below	0	0	0	0	0	0.0	
Age	13 to 25	6	2	6	0	14	11.7	100.0
	26 to 40	16	15	9	11	51	42.5	
	41 to 60	8	13	15	19	55	45.8	

 Table 1: Social demographic characteristics of respondents (N=120)

Source: Primary data (2021)

N is total number of respondents (consumers of poultry products)





Where poultry products are bought: Only 31.7% of the respondents (38/120) usually bought poultry products from supermarkets while 68.3% of the respondents (82/120) bought poultry products from local or nearby shops as shown in table 2. Thus, majority of the consumers in Kampala, Wakiso, Mityana and Kyotera districts usually bought poultry products from local or nearby shops.

Purchase location	Total fragmeney	Percent				
	Kampala district	Wakiso district	Mityana district	Kyotera district	irequency	(70)
Supermarket	11	8	10	9	38	31.7
Local/nearby shop	19	22	20	21	82	68.3
Total	30	30	30	30	120	100.0

Table 2: Where poultry products are bought

Source: Primary data (2021)

Average expenditure of poultry products per month: Only 23.3% of the respondents (28/120) usually spend less than 20,000 shs on poultry products every month, 39.2% of the respondents (47/120) spend between 20,000 shs to 100,000 shs while 37.5% of the respondents (45/120) spend more than 100,000 shs on poultry products every month as shown on in table 3.

Table 3: Average exp	penditure of pou	ltry products per	month

Expenditure		Frequ	Total frequency	Percent		
	Kampala district	Wakiso district	Mityana district	Kyotera district	nequency	(70)
Less than 20,000 shs	9	4	12	3	28	23.3
20,000 shs to 100,000 shs	9	12	8	18	47	39.2
More than 100,000 shs	12	14	10	9	45	37.5
Total	30	30	30	30	120	100.0

Source: Primary data (2021)

Poultry production system known: Only 25.8% of the respondents (31/120) had knowledge about deep litter production system, 38.3% of the respondents (46/120) had knowledge about battery cage production system and 35.8% (43/120) had knowledge about free rage production system as shown in table 4. Thus, the study findings show that most consumers had much knowledge about poultry production systems, especially battery cage system.



Production system		Frequ		Total	Percent	
	Kampala district	Wakiso district	Mityana district	Kyotera district	inequency	(70)
Deep litter	3	15	9	4	31	25.8
Battery	19	7	9	11	46	38.3
Free range	8	8	12	15	43	35.8
Total	30	30	30	30	120	100.0

Table 4: Poultry production system known

Source: Primary data (2021)

Preference for products from any of the production systems: Only 21.7% of the respondents (26/120) preferred products from deep litter production system, 31.7% of the respondents (38/120) preferred products from battery cage production system while the majority, 38.3% of the respondents (46/120) preferred products from free range production system.

Preferred product		Frequ	Total frequency	Percent		
	Kampala district	Wakiso district	Mityana district	Kyotera district	irequency	(70)
Deep litter	4	12	5	5	26	21.7
Battery	12	5	8	13	38	31.7
Free range	10	12	13	11	46	38.3
Not concerned	4	1	4	1	10	8.3
Total	30	30	30	30	120	100.0

 Table 5: Preference for products from any of the production systems

Source: Primary data (2021)

Awareness of welfare requirements for poultry produced in the mentioned production systems: Majority, 95% of the respondents (114/120) were aware of the welfare requirements for poultry produced in the productions systems, especially battery cage system. While only 5% of the respondents (6/120) were not aware of the welfare requirements.





Table 6:	Awareness	of	welfare	requirements	for	poultry	produced	in	the	production
systems r	nentioned									

Option		Frequ	Total frequency	Percent		
	Kampala district	Wakiso district	Mityana district	Kyotera district	Irequency	(70)
Yes	29	29	27	29	114	95.0
No	1	1	3	1	6	5.0
Total	30	30	30	30	120	100.0

Source: Primary data (2021)

Indicating the production systems on the products sold in the market: Over 95% of the respondents (114/120) accepted that the producer should indicate the production systems on the products sold in the market while only 18.3% of the respondents (22/120) objected the idea.

Option		Frequ	uency		Total	Percent
	Kampala district	Wakiso district	Mityana district	Kyotera district	Trequency	(70)
Yes	23	29	23	23	98	81.7
No	7	1	7	7	22	18.3
Total	30	30	30	30	120	100.0

 Table 7: Indicating the production systems on the products sold in the market

Source: Primary data (2021)

If the respondent would pay a higher price for poultry products raised in better welfare and quality production systems: Over 86.7% of the respondents (104/120) accepted that they would pay a higher price for poultry products raised in better welfare and quality production systems while only 13.3% of the respondents (16/120) objected the idea.

 Table 8: If the respondent would pay a higher price for poultry products raised in better welfare and quality production systems

Option	Frequency				Total frequency	Percent (%)
	Kampala district	Wakiso district	Mityana district	Kyotera district		
Yes	23	28	27	26	104	86.7





No	7	2	3	4	16	13.3
Total	30	30	30	30	120	100.0

Source: Primary data (2021)

Pressing Issues regarding Welfare of Poultry

Remarks from the majority of consumers in Kampala, Kyotera, Mityana and Wakiso districts showed that most of the pressing issues regarding welfare of poultry include diseases such as chicken pox, coccidiosis and pneumonia, which spread easily in deep litter and battery cage systems compared to free-range system. On this note, it was noted that chicken need to always be vaccinated from such diseases, which is expensive and sometimes it may be poorly done by unskilled farmers.

Results also showed that chicken raised under free-range system are usually bigger in size. However, they usually take long to grow compared to those raised under deep-litter and battery cage systems, which produce chicken that are most of the times small in size due to lack of enough space for exercising and lack of nesting opportunities that in the long run results into severe frustration for mostly layers. This is in line with the argument of Mench (2017) that most of the conditions in which chicken live and procedures they are subjected to usually compromises their welfare.

Finally, results showed that there were less/poor strict biosecurity measures and a number of poultry houses were poorly constructed which could attract thieves and compromised welfare of chickens. It was also revealed that poultry feeds were expensive which caused low quantities served to the chicken, hence poor productivity and low supply of poultry products to the market.

Concerns with the Quality of Poultry Products found at Sale point

Over half of the consumers were concerned with the sale of pre-mature exotic chicken expensively yet they are not as tasty as local breeds raised under free-range system. Some chickens were confirmed to be brought for sale when they are not in good health or were still under treatment which threatens consumers' health. This is similar to report by De Jonge and van Trijp (2013) asserting that consumers can fail to purchase poultry products due to different reasons such as higher prices, weight of the birds and depending on the production information provided by the farmer. However, they noted that some birds are sold expensively in comparison of the welfare they have been given during production

They were also concerns with the lack of product labeling for proper identification and poor packaging which leads to egg breakages. Consumers were also concerned with poor sanitation at the sales points and the different sized eggs sold at the same price. Additionally, majority of the consumers were not concerned about the quality of products found at the sales points provided they are affordable to them.





DISCUSSION:

In this study, majority of the consumers of poultry products were females aged between 41 to 60 and non-affluent. This implies that most of the consumers in the study areas, Kampala, Wakiso, Mityana and Kyotera districts were women who sometimes are not able to afford to consistently buy poultry products in large quantities (Wong et al., 2017)

Most of the consumers bought poultry products from local or nearby shops than supermarkets. This is in line with the results of the study by Martínez-Michel, Anders & Wismer (2011) that over 70% of the respondents often purchased chicken meat from farmers' markets or meat shops than in supermarkets. Long & Altermanc (2007) asserted that a number of the eggs sold in supermarkets may be inferior in nutrition compared to the eggs sold in farmers' markets.

Most of the consumers usually spend between 20,000 shs to 100,000 shs on poultry products every month according to their non affluent income status. Consumers had knowledge about deep litter, battery cage and free-range production systems. But the study findings show that most consumers had much knowledge about battery cage production system. This is in line with what Vernooij, Masaki & Meijer-Willems (2018) asserted that in Southern and Eastern African countries, poultry production has gradually grown from a system of backyard keeping to a more commercial and professional poultry value chain. However, it is contrary to the results of the study by Erian and Philips (2017) which showed that most of the consumers had limited knowledge about production systems.

Consumers preferred products from all production systems including deep litter, battery cage and free-range production system. Not surprisingly, majority of the consumers preferred products from free range production system because they are healthier good quality products. This is supported by Tosar et al. (2021), European Commission (2018) and McNamara (2015) who noted that hens of free range usually produce eggs that are bigger in size and healthier than those produced by hens of battery cage system. Unlike the hens raised conventionally, research also shows that free-rage chicken does not disrupt hormones (Ahmad et al., 2017) and usually taste better than conventional birds because they feed on high-quality diet. Eggs layed by free-range hens usually have more vitamin A, less saturated fat, 7 times more beta-carotene, less cholesterol and 2 times more omega-3 (Brümmer, Christoph-Schulz and Rovers, 2017).

Majority of the respondents were aware of the welfare requirements for poultry produced in the productions systems, especially battery cage system. This is contrary to some European studies for example by (Grunert, Hieke & Wills, 2014) which revealed that consumers usually have little awareness about labels on poultry products.

Most consumers accepted the idea that the producer should indicate the production systems on the products sold in the market. This is in line with the argument that poultry products within the EU are subject to cataloging and labeling based on production systems (Kleter et al., 2018). Thus, products should always be labelled according to the system used in their production such as free-range, battery cage or deep litter. Illustrating how sensitive production can be to welfare considerations, in the UK from 2006 to 2017 there has been a doubling in the production and output of free-range eggs, while enriched cages in intensive





systems have seen a slight decrease in production (Defra, 2017) - so, when it comes to eggs at least, it seems the growing demand is being met by less intensive forms of farming, thanks to consumers opting for products labelled "free-range". The preference for labeling products with specific distances in miles/kilometers has also been elicited by consumers in Grebitus et al. (2013), although such labeling is often challenging for producers selling into different channels (Escobedo del Bosque, Spiller & Risius, 2021).

Majority of the consumers accepted that they would pay a higher price for poultry products raised in better welfare and quality production systems. This is similar to the findings of the study by Straughter (2021) that over half of the participants in the study were willing to pay an additional 30% for value-added chicken products, especially free-range products. The study by Żakowska-Biemans & Tekień (2017) revealed that both the production system and price have a high relative importance for the consumers and that consumers have shown a higher willingness to pay more for animal-based products when presented with information about animal welfare.

CONCLUSIONS:

The aim of this study was successfully achieved providing information about consumer gaps on awareness of the use of battery cage poultry farming in Uganda and the issues around poultry production. For example, most consumers of poultry products were females aged between 41 to 60 and non-affluent, buying poultry products from local or nearby shops and usually do not spend a lot of money on poultry products every month. Consumers largely had more knowledge about battery cage than other production systems, although majority of them preferred products from free range. On the same note, most of them were aware of the welfare requirements for poultry produced in the productions systems, especially battery cage system and accepted the idea that the producer should indicate the production systems on the products sold in the market, for which they would pay a higher price if raised in better welfare and quality production systems.

The study realized that free-range products are mostly preferred by consumers compared to deep litter and battery cage products because of their healthier good quality by the fact that they are usually raised in good welfare conditions. This also supports arguments by lobby groups of animal welfare such as NGOs to evidently speak against the battery cage poultry rearing system, that exposes chickens to high levels of stress and denies them movement rights. However, results show that majority of the consumers had more knowledge about battery cage production system than other types probably for commercial purposes. A number of studies such as by Atela (2016) have shown that battery cage system has recently been gaining much popularity, making farmers to base on their preferences or purpose to choose between the three systems. In summary, this study recommends that strict policy frameworks and regulations should be implemented country-wide so that all consumers can acquire more knowledge about the available poultry production systems and their welfare requirements, which greatly influences their purchase and consumption behaviors.





REFERENCES:

- El Jeni, R., Dittoe, D. K., Olson, E. G., Lourenco, J., Seidel, D. S., Ricke, S. C., & Callaway, T. R. (2021). An overview of health challenges in alternative poultry production systems. *Poultry Science*, 101173.
- 2. Kraus, A. (2014). Environmental Impacts of the Battery Cage Industry Depicted Through Sculpture.
- 3. De Carvalho, L. M., Ventanas, S., Olegario, L. S., Madruga, M. S., & Estévez, M. (2020). Consumers' awareness of white-striping as a chicken breast myopathy affects their purchasing decision and emotional responses. *LWT*, *131*, 109809.
- 4. Escobedo Del Bosque, C. I., Risius, A., Spiller, A., & Busch, G. (2021). Consumers' opinions and expectations of an 'ideal chicken farm'and their willingness to purchase a whole chicken from this farm. *Frontiers in Animal Science*, *2*, 23.
- 5. Minbashrazgah, M. M., Maleki, F., & Torabi, M. (2017). Green chicken purchase behavior: the moderating role of price transparency. *Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal*.
- Clark, B., Stewart, G., Panzone, L. A., Kyriazakis, I., and Frewer, L. J. (2017). Citizens, consumers and farm animal welfare: a meta-analysis of willingness-to-pay studies. *Food Pol.* 68, 112–127. doi: 10.1016/j.foodpol.2017.01.006.
- 7. Erian, I., & Phillips, C. J. (2017). Public understanding and attitudes towards meat chicken production and relations to consumption. *Animals*, 7(3), 20.
- 8. Gibson, E., & Fedorenko, E. (2013). The need for quantitative methods in syntax and semantics research. *Language and Cognitive Processes*, 28(1-2), 88-124.
- 9. Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2010). Generalization in quantitative and qualitative research: Myths and strategies. *International journal of nursing studies*, 47(11), 1451-1458.
- 10. Nakatudde, O. (2015). "Parliament Approves 23 New Districts". Uganda Radio Network.
- 11. Mench, J. (2017). Advances in poultry welfare. Woodhead Publishing.
- 12. Tabler, G. (2019). Farm Animal Welfare Issues Affect Poultry Producers.
- 13. Busch, G., Kassas, B., Palma, M., and Risius, A. (2020). Perceptions of antibiotic use in Germany, Italy and the US. *Livestock Sci.* 241:104251. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2020.104251
- 14. Wong, J. T., de Bruyn, J., Bagnol, B., Grieve, H., Li, M., Pym, R., & Alders, R. G. (2017). Small-scale poultry and food security in resource-poor settings: A review. *Global Food Security*, 15, 43-52.
- 15. Martínez Michel, L., Anders, S., & Wismer, W. V. (2011). Consumer Preferences and willingness to pay for value-added chicken product attributes. *Journal of food science*, 76(8), S469-S477.
- 16. Long, C., & Alterman, T. (2007). Meet real free-range eggs. Mother Earth News, 4, 1-4.
- 17. European Commission. (2018). "EU Agricultural Outlook for Markets and Income 2018–2030." Brussels, Belgium: European Commission, DG Agriculture and Rural Development. Accessed 10February 2020. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/food-farming-fisheries/farming/documents/medium-term-outlook-2018-report_en.pdf</u>





- 18. Vernooij, A., Masaki, M. N., & Meijer-Willems, D. (2018). *Regionalisation in poultry developmen in Eastern Africa* (No. 1121). Wageningen Livestock Research.
- 19. Erian, I., and Phillips, C. J. C. (2017). Public understanding and attitudes towards meat chicken production and relations to consumption. *Animals* 7:20. doi: 10.3390/ani7030020.
- 20. Tosar, V., Rousseau, G., Decruyenaere, V., Beckers, Y., Larondelle, Y., & Froidmont, E. (2021). Red clover-rich grassland increases equol concentration in eggs from free-range laying hens. *British Poultry Science*, (just-accepted).
- 21. European Commission. (2018). "EU Agricultural Outlook for Markets and Income 2018–2030." Brussels, Belgium: European Commission, DG Agriculture and Rural Development. Accessed 10February 2020. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/food-farming-fisheries/farming/documents/medium-term-outlook-2018-report_en.pdf</u>
- 22. McNamara, D. J. (2015). "The Fifty-Year Rehabilitation of the Egg." *Nutrients* 7 (10): 8716–8722. doi:10.3390/nu7105429. [Crossref], [PubMed], [Web of Science ®]
- 23. Ahmad, S., Ahmed, I., Haider, S., Batool, Z., & Ahmed, S. B. (2017). Daily consumption of commercial chicken feed and meat lead to alterations in serum cholesterol and steroidal sex hormones in female rats. *Pakistan journal of pharmaceutical sciences*, *30*.
- 24. Brümmer, N., Christoph-Schulz, I., and Rovers, A. K. (2017). Consumers' perspective on dual-purpose chickens. *Proc. Syst. Dyn. Innov. Food Netw.* 164–169. doi: 10.18461/ijfsd.v9i5.951.
- 25. Grunert, K. G., Hieke, S., & Wills, J. (2014). Sustainability labels on food products: Consumer motivation, understanding and use. *Food policy*, 44, 177-189.
- 26. Kleter, G., McFarland, S., Bach, A., Bernabucci, U., Bikker, P., Busani, L., ... & Einspanier, R. (2018). Surveying selected European feed and livestock production chains for features enabling the case-specific post-market monitoring of livestock for intake and potential health impacts of animal feeds derived from genetically modified crops. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *117*, 66-78.
- 27. Department of Environment, Food and Rural affairs (Defra), (2017). United Kingdom Poultry and Poultry Meat Statistics September 2016.
- 28. Grebitus, C., Lusk, J. L., and Nayga, R. M. (2013). Effect of distance of transportation on willingness to pay for food. *Ecol. Econ.* 88, 67–75. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2013.01.006.
- 29. Escobedo del Bosque, C. I., Spiller, A., & Risius, A. (2021). Who Wants Chicken? Uncovering Consumer Preferences for Produce of Alternative Chicken Product Methods. *Sustainability*, 13(5), 2440.
- 30. Straughter, M. (2021). A Qualitative Analysis of Consumer Preferences for Local Value-Added Products (Doctoral dissertation, North Carolina Agricultural and Technical State University).
- 31. Żakowska-Biemans, S., & Tekień, A. (2017). Free range, organic? Polish consumers preferences regarding information on farming system and nutritional enhancement of eggs: A discrete choice-based experiment. *Sustainability*, *9*(11), 1999.
- 32. Napolitano, F., Girolami, A., and Braghieri, A. (2010). Consumer liking and willingness to pay for high welfare animal-based products. *Trends Food Sci. Tech.* 21, 537–543. doi: 10.1016/j.tifs.2010.07.012.





- 33. Vanhonacker, F., and Verbeke, W. (2014). Public and consumer policies for higher welfare food products: challenges and opportunities. *J. Agric. Environ. Ethics* 27, 153–171. doi: 10.1007/s10806-013-9479-2.
- 34. Atela, J. A. (2016). Indigenous chicken production in kenya; characterization of the production systems and inclusion of molaplus probiotic in the feeding strategy in Baringo and Kisumu counties (Doctoral dissertation, Egerton University).





LIST OF TABLES:

Table 1: Social demographic characteristics of respondents (N=120)
Table 2: Where poultry products are bought
Table 3: Average expenditure of poultry products per month
Table 4: Poultry production system known 7
Table 5: Preference for products from any of the production systems 7
Table 6: Awareness of welfare requirements for poultry produced in the production systems mentioned
Table 7: Indicating the production systems on the products sold in the market
Table 8: If the respondent would pay a higher price for poultry products raised in better welfare and quality production systems